### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### **RICHARD BRODERICK JONES**

VS.

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

NO. 2006-CA-00974

**NEVADA RAE BARR JONES** 

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

### **ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED**

### APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

Mark A. Chinn, MSB Matthew Thompson, MSB CHINN & ASSOCIATES, PLLC 4316 Old Canton Road Post Office Box 13483 Jackson, Mississippi 39236 Telephone: (601) 366-4410 Facsimile: (601) 366-4010

Attorneys for Appellant, Richard Broderick Jones

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### **RICHARD BRODERICK JONES**

**APPELLANT** 

APPELLEE

NO. 2006-CA-00974

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. The Chancellor erred in denying the motion to strike and for sanctions and in failing to take any action whatsoever to redress admitted, repeated, blatant perjury, discovery violations and destruction of evidence.

### II. The Chancellor was manifestly wrong, and clearly erroneous in relying on perjurous statements and destruction of evidence perpetrated by Nevada.

A. Nevada failed to correct or amend her incorrect statements as required by the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure

### **III.** The Chancellor committed manifest error in his consideration and application of equitable distribution

- A. The Chancellor did not consider Richard's contributions to Nevada's book writing endeavors.
- B. The Chancellor did not consider Richard's contributions to the stability and harmony of the marriage.
- C. The Chancellor erred in not awarding Richard any interest in future income from Nevada's book sales, for books written during the marriage.

### IV. The Chancellor was manifestly wrong and clearly erroneous in refusing to award Alimony to Richard.

V. The Chancellor was manifestly wrong and clearly erroneous in refusing to award attorneys fees, with much additional expense incurred because of Nevada's perjury and discovery violations.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a decision of the Chancery Court of Hinds, County, Mississippi, Honorable Stuart Robinson, presiding, regarding alimony, equitable distribution and perjury by the Appellee. The case began on December 23, 2004, when Plaintiff, Nevada Rae Barr ("Nevada") filed for divorce on the ground of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment, or, in the alternative, irreconcilable differences. On March 16, 2005, Richard Jones ("Richard") filed his counterclaim for divorce on the ground of adultery or, in the alternative, irreconcilable differences. On August 8, 2005, the parties filed a *Joint Motion and Consent to Trial and Divorce on the Ground of Irreconcilable Differences*, requesting that, at trial, the Chancellor determine all remaining financial issues. Richard filed two Motions to Strike Nevada Barr's defense or for other sanctions based upon perjury and destruction of evidence by Nevada. A hearing was conducted on Richard's motions immediately prior to trial on the merits, which took place on November 7 and 8, 2005.

Richard Jones appeals the Chancellor's refusal to take any action regarding the perjury and destruction of evidence and his denial of alimony and his award of only 21% of the marital assets.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

This is a tale of deception, debauchery, chicanery and perjury worthy of the novelist, Nevada Barr, who is involved. On an unsuspectingly beautiful November day, Richard Jones–former career National Park Service employee–returned to his comfortable home in Clinton to find that his wife of nine years had left him without warning and left in her wake only the following evidence of the motivation for her departure:

2

Brodie-1

I do not wish to leave you in a bad financial place. I know you do not wish to work. I will take care of you as we find appropriate. I will give you the house and the money that meets your needs. I don't want to punish you or hurt you; I want you to have what you need to make a life for yourself, money that is YOURS, a house that is YOURS, a life that you can be proud of and share and enjoy. I only want out. I want the place in N.O. and the doagies. All else we will negotiate between us till you are safe and secure and financially taken care of. It was in my mind to wait till after the holidays but that was selfish; I just wanted to be with April and Ryan. Perhaps it will be good for you to have your family around you as you adjust to this. I will call you in a couple of days, when you've had time to think things through. I shall split my time between here and N.O. till the duplex deal closes then I hope you will allow me to take some of the things from the house to furnish the duplex. I ask that you don't try and track me down, call me, etc. I need this time alone and, till the dust has settled, it isn't wise to meet without a mediator.

I thought to wait till you were gone this weekend that I might pack my computer and some clothing I will need but, since I decided to go, every moment here is a lie, and I can't take it even one more night.

This may seem sudden, shocking even, but it's not. It's been a long time coming. Both of us have worked unbelievably hard to make this marriage work. You have changed and I have changed and both of us have changed some more. But it doesn't work. When I stopped fighting with you a couple of months ago, I thought that would be a good thing. In a way it was, but not in the way I thought it would be. What happened was I began to ACCEPT the way things were, not to hope anymore for change. I accepted that it was normal to shriek obscenities at one's husband two or three times a month, that it was fine to want to occasionally smash his face in, that it was okay that he lied about money, that promises were nothing much, that a wife, when her husband was late, often wished he'd gotten in a car accident and was dead, that it was **normal** to be happy when your husband left and sorry when he returned. That this was the way life was. Then I snatched the money back and you set up yet another USAA acct. and I realized that not only did I not trust you but you did not trust me, did not trust me to make monetary decisions with you, did not trust that I had your best interests at heart. You lived as silently desperate a life as I did; you could not trust me with your needs and thus must lie. We arew ever more parallel.

<sup>&</sup>quot;Brodie" means and refers to Richard Broderick Jones, Appellant in the case at bar.

Maybe because I bought the duplex and now have a place I can live. Maybe because I gave up. Whatever, a couple of weeks ago, I began to see that I cannot look forward to another 30 years of this. It's killing me. I must end our marriage. There is no give to this. I am gone and will stay gone. Of course I care for you, I remember good times and your great kindness. But this marriage has ended.

It is my hope you will not fight me on this but let us work it out in a way that feels just and right and safe for both of us. Other than to ascertain what the legalities are, I would like to do this without the expense of lawyers if we can. Lawyers will pit us against each other and make themselves richer and us poorer and angrier. If, after you've talked to a legal council and thought about it, you could find a mediator that would work with us, that would be good. I hope you will not call friends and family and demand to know where I am. They don't know. I have kept them out of it just for this reason. I hope you will find in this the excitement of a new beginning where you don't have to feel beholden, under-appreciated, less than.

I know this nocturnal departure is not logical, linear, perhaps not even polite but, I fought for logical, tonight I reached the point where I couldn't do it anymore. Please forgive the drama and the apparent haste. I have always found it better to hear this sort of stuff in writing so I have time to absorb it before I have to talk about it with others. I hope this is true for you. I'll talk with you soon and we can be rational. I do care about you and will help you get what you need and want.

(R. 82-83, Ex. 1, R.E. 26-27)(emphasis in original).<sup>2</sup>

This shocking departure and ruthless "Dear-I wished you died in a car accident--John Letter"

were a total and complete surprise to Richard. (R.E. 26). After all, Nevada had written in a

published book in 2003 that Richard was the ideal man and husband. Richard also soon learned that

Nevada had raided their joint account of approximately \$500,000, leaving him with around \$50,000.

(Tr. 99).

2

Citations to the Record are designated as (R.\_\_), the Record Excerpts as(R.E.\_\_), the Transcript of testimony as (Tr.\_\_), Composite Exhibits as (Ex.\_\_, No. \_\_, Pp. \_\_), and Exhibits as (Ex.\_\_).

As it turns out-- from proof evolved from truthful sources other than Nevada-- Nevada was engaged at the time of her separation in an affair with one Donald Paxton, with whom she would later live. Seeking to distract the courts and the parties' community of friends from her adultery and skulduggery, Nevada began an elaborate campaign to sully Richard's reputation and to accuse him of, and sue him for, habitual cruel and inhuman treatment which was purely the figment of her author's imagination and which was belied by her writings and her sworn testimony. (Tr. 23-24). During discovery, Nevada blatantly lied under oath about her affair. (Tr. 24). First she denied having an affair. Later, upon more thorough questioning, she admitted having an affair, but not until January of 2005. Of course, to admit that the affair was going on when she left in November, 2004 would discredit her fabricated tale of cruelty by Richard. She knew this, so she concocted an elaborate scheme to admit the adultery, denounce her crime, and profess to tell the truth in the future. (Tr. 24). She declared under oath that her newfound sense of morality compelled her to admit that the affair was adultery and that it had taken place in January.<sup>3</sup>

Of course, that was not true either, but Nevada allowed the lie to simmer and fester for months until her deposition was taken again when she did not elect to set the record straight. It was her paramour who set the record straight in his deposition which took place later. Nevada never personally corrected the record of her testimony until forced to do so at the hearing on the Motions to Strike.

Also during her deposition, Nevada was asked about the "Dear-I wished you died in a car

3

Included with this brief are video segments of the actual deposition. These demonstrate first hand Nevada's perjury, cover-up, denial, purported confession and declaration that she was then testifying truthfully. It is imperative that this Court review these materials, in addition to the print, to appreciate the depths of deception perpetrated against Richard Jones.

accident--John Letter," that she left. (R.E. 26-27). Apparently stunned by the despicable nature of her own letter, Nevada attempted to deny that she had left the letter. She then accused Richard of changing the letter she had actually written. When asked where the true copy of the letter was, Nevada said it was on her computer. (Ex. 2, No. 12, Deposition pp. 84). At trial, she admitted she smashed this computer into pieces and threw it into a bayou after Richard's attorneys asked for its production. (Tr. 26).

Richard and Nevada were married on June 29, 1996 in Clinton, Hinds County, Mississippi. (R. 000001). At the time of trial Richard was 55 years old and Nevada was 53. Both parties are in good health. At the time of the marriage, Richard and Nevada both worked for the National Park Service, but Nevada quit her job with the Park Service to devote full time to fiction writing. Nevada began writing books prior to the marriage and wrote and published books prior to and during the course of the marriage as follows:

• Bittersweet	- 1983
2	
<ul> <li>Track of the Cat</li> </ul>	- 1993
<ul> <li>A Superior Death</li> </ul>	- 1994
• Ill Wind	- 1995
– Date of Marriage - June 29	,1996
Firestorm	- 1996
<ul> <li>Endangered Species</li> </ul>	- 1997
Blind Descent	- 1998
<ul> <li>Liberty Falling</li> </ul>	- 1999
• Deep South	- 2000
• Blood Lure	- 2001
• Hunting Season	- 2002
• Flashback	- 2003
• Seeking Enlightenment - Hat	t by Hat - 2003
High Country	- 2004
• Hard Truth	- (Expected 2005)
<ul> <li>untitled book</li> </ul>	- (Writing began September/October 2004)

At trial Nevada and her publicist, Dominick Abel, testified that Nevada's most lucrative publications were written during the marriage -- *Bloodlure*, published in 2001, and *Hunting Season*, published in 2002, respectively. (Tr. 194-95).

Social Security Administration reports were introduced into evidence which showed that at the time of marriage, Richard's earned income was \$38,067 and Nevada's earned income was \$32,791. Nevada's success in book writing increased steadily during the marriage. The parties' joint tax return for 1997 (the first full year of marriage) showed an adjusted gross income of \$477,439 and their amended joint tax return for 2003 (the last full year of the parties' cohabitation) showed an adjusted gross income of \$994,072. (Ex. 2, No. 4, 10).

The parties jointly own the marital home, located at 603 Merganser Trail in Clinton, Mississippi, where Richard resides. In addition, there is a home located in New Orleans, Louisiana, in which Nevada resides, titled solely in Nevada's name. There is also a home located in Berkley, West Virginia, titled solely in Richard's name. Total assets involved exceeded Two Million Dollars and proof showed that Nevada stands to earn residuals on her books as well as future earnings from movies and other sources.

Prior to trial, Richard presented proof of Nevada's repeated perjuries on the relevant issue of adultery and her lies about her computer and her ultimate destruction of that piece of evidence. (Tr. 2-34). Even though the Chancellor found Nevada guilty of perjury at the hearing, this evidence was completely ignored by the trial judge in the final opinion, ignored with regard to sanctions and ignored as a factor in the credibility of Nevada. At trial, Richard, relying upon precedent from not only Mississippi, but all other states that have addressed the issue of intellectual property as a marital asset, contended he was entitled to a fifty percent share of all earnings during the marriage and a suitable proportion of residuals which would passively flow to Nevada in the future from books written during the marriage. Richard–who is nearing retirement age and had been unemployed for years during the marriage–asked for alimony. In what is an unprecedented award in reported decisions, the Chancellor gave Richard only 21% of the assets, no interest in residuals and no alimony.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The chancellor erred in relying on Nevada Barr's testimony and averments as it was demonstrated time and again that she was guilty of perjury and destruction of relevant evidence. Nevada testified to whatever most benefitted her and should not have been affordered any defferance regarding her veracity. Richard offered testimony and evidence contradicting Nevada that is far more credible than Nevada Barr. The Chancellor was aware of the many instances of perjury and proven destruction of evidence, but erroneously chose to ignore it.

The chancellor erred in his reliance on Nevada's Rule 8.05 financial declaration. It is undeniably false and innaccurate. It was relied upon by the Chancellor to Richard's detriment. This wrong must be corrected for equity to reign and for fairness to be upheld.

The chancellor erred in his application of equitable distribution. The division was undeniably one-sided and unfair. The Chancellor did not consider Richard's contributions to the marriage. Because Nevada earned the bulk of the income with her work as an author, and because Richard is a man, the Chancellor discounted Richard's efforts to support the bread winning spouse. Most assuredly had the gender roles been reversed the outcome would not be the same.

The Chancellor erred in not awarding alimony. After the "equitable distribution" there was  $55 \div 53$  ? a tremendous disparity in the the parties' estates. Richard, approaching retirement age, had not worked in a number of years, other than in his effrots to support Nevada's writing career which blossomed during the course of the marriage. The lack of an award of alimony was not equitable and again attributable to the gender discrimination that is evident in this case.

Finally, the chancellor erred in not awarding attorneys fees to Richard and his counsel. An attorneys fee award is left to the sound discretion of the Chancellor. However, much expense was directly related to Nevada's perjurous statements, which she maintaind for as long as she could.

Along with her admitted destruction of relevant evidence, an award of attorney fees was warranted and failure to do so was an abuse of discretion.

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

This Court has held that the findings of a chancellor may be disturbed or set aside on appeal if the decision of the trial court is manifestly wrong and not supported by the substantial credible evidence, or an erroneous legal standard was applied. *Pearson v. Pearson*, 761 So.2d 157 (Miss. 2000).

This Court will reverse where the chancellor was 'manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied." *West v. West*, 891 So.2d 203 (Miss. Dec. 2, 2004) (*quoting Perkins v. Perkins*, 787 So.2d 1256, 1260 (Miss. 2001)).

This is a case that is manifestly wrong, clealry erroneous and not supported by the substantial evidence and it must be reversed and rendered in favor of Richard Broderick Jones.

### I. The Court erred in denying the motion to strike and for sanctions and in failing to take any action whatsoever to redress admitted, repeated, blatant perjury, discovery violations and destruction of evidence.

Long before trial, Richard filed a *Motion to Strike and for Sanctions* against Nevada for committing perjury while under oath during her deposition, and failing to correct her blatantly false statements, even after they were discovered. Richard respectfully requested that the Court (1) strike any reference to or proof offered by Nevada at the trial of this matter concerning her allegations of fault against Richard, and (2) award to Richard reasonable attorney fees, costs, and expenses incurred in pursuing this matter. (R. 000134-40).

Later, Richard filed a *Second Motion to Strike and for Sanctions* against Nevada for committing discovery violations and spoliation of evidence, and moved the court for an order (1) presuming that the "Dear–I hope you get hit by a truck-- John letter" at issue was written by Nevada in its entirety, and (2) striking and prohibiting Nevada from referring to allegations of fault against Richard, and (3) awarding Richard reasonable attorney fees, costs and expenses incurred for having to bring this motion. (R. 000149-53). In argument before the court, Richard's counsel beseeched the Chancellor to view the perjury as a serious matter which jeopardized the very foundations of our justice system and our society.

Counsel pointed out that in the Wayne Law Review, in 1996, the author wrote, "The crime of perjury...attacks the very foundation of the judicial system." Harris, L. C., *Perjury Defeats Justice*, 42 Wayne L. Rev. 1755, 1755 (Spring 1996).

Counsel pointed out that in the American Journal of Jurisprudence in 1995, the author writes: "The legal system is geared to two things: order ...and the finding and discovery of truth. In many ways, the first is dependent on the second because unless a people perceive that justice has been done as based on truth, the legal system will be perceived as one of chicanery, procedures and legal tricks." The author went on to explain that "[t]he discovery of truth remains a cornerstone of the Western legal system because without it, the relationship of citizens becomes disruptive and suspicious and finally impossible. There can be no truly free civil society without citizens trying to deal truthfully and honestly with each other." Riga, Peter J., *The Nature of Truth and Dissent*, American Journal of Jurisprudence, 40, 71-78, 71 (1995).

Richard's counsel pleaded with the court to view the perjury with intolerance and not-as argued by Nevada's counsel-as something that happens in divorce cases. Counsel for Richard cited the following:

The general acceptance of perjury as inevitable by legal professionals needs to be replaced by **intolerance** of its presence, criminal prosecution and disciplinary sanctions of perjurers and suborners of perjury must be elevated from low to top priority. To achieve this result, lawyers, judges and prosecutors needs to be educated and reeducated on the urgency of prosecuting this crime.

Harris, L. C., *Perjury Defeats Justice*, 42 Wayne L. Rev. 1755, 1779-80 (Spring 1996)(emphasis added).

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