#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

RICHARD BRODERICK JONES

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2006-CA-00974

**NEVADA RAE BARR JONES** 

**APPELLEE** 

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE NEVADA RAE BARR JONES

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

MICHAEL J. MALOUF, ESQ. MSB NO. MELISSA A. MALOUF, ESQ. MSB NO. MALOUF & MALOUF 501 East Capitol Street Jackson, Mississippi 39201 (601) 948-4320

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

#### I. The Chancellor Was Correct in Denying the Motion to Strike and for Sanctions

The Chancellor was correct in denying Richard the relief he requested in his two (2) motions to strike, inasmuch as said motions were not listed as contested issues in the agreed order allowing a divorce on irreconcilable differences, as required by *Miss. Code Ann §93-5-2 (3)*. Alternatively, the relief sought by Richard was moot inasmuch as the parties had agreed on an irreconcilable differences, and fault was no longer an issue.

### II. The Chancellor Did Not Rely on Perjurous Statements or Destroyed Evidence

The relief Richard seeks under this assignment was rendered moot when the parties entered an agreed order allowing a divorce on irreconcilable differences pursuant to *Miss. Code Ann.* §93-5-2 (3). There was no fault ground or cause of action the Chancellor could have dismissed inasmuch as both parties voluntarily dismissed their fault grounds and entered an agreed order asking the Chancellor to decide only financial issues.

# III. The Chancellor Properly Considered and Applied the Factors of Equitable Distribution

The Chancellor was correct in his application of equitable distribution. After receiving two (2) days of testimony and exhibits and having considered the proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law submitted by both parties the Chancellor,

following the dictates of the Supreme Court in Ferguson v. Ferguson, 639 So.2d 921 (Miss. 1994) and subsequent cases, wrote a detailed thirteen (13) page order in which he made findings under each of the Ferguson factors. The Chancellor, sitting as finder of fact, was able to personally observe the testimony and demeanor of each of the witnesses in making his findings. Richard has failed to show that the Chancellor manifestly abused his discretion.

#### IV. The Chancellor Was Correct in Denying Alimony

After making an equitable distribution of the marital assets, the Chancellor found that each spouse had sufficient assets to adequately provide for himself. The Chancellor found that Richard would possess a debt-free home, multiple automobiles, sufficient funds, and a federal pension for life. The Chancellor further found that Richard was physically and mentally capable of pursuing gainful employment, if he so desired, and that further consideration of the factors set out in *Hemsley v. Hemsley*, 639 So.2d 909 (Miss. 1994) was not necessary.

### 5. The Chancellor Was Correct in Denying Attorney Fees

The Chancellor was correct in denying Richard's request for attorney fees inasmuch as each party was financially able to pay his own attorney fees. The Chancellor's ruling was further appropriate inasmuch as there was no showing that said fees were reasonable or necessary as required by *McKee v. McKee*, 418 So.2d 764 (Miss. 1982).

#### **ARGUMENT**

The Chancery Court Judge, Stuart Robinson, correctly found that after a relatively short marriage Richard was entitled to a fair division of assets and denied his request for alimony and attorney fees.

I. The Chancellor was Correct in Denying the Motion to Strike and for Sanctions

Though the parties had filed fault grounds against each other, on June 29, 2005 they executed a Joint Motion And Consent To Trial And Divorce On The Ground Of Irreconcilable Differences which was prepared by Richard's legal counsel. (R. 108) The Order Granting Trial For Divorce On The Ground Of Irreconcilable Differences was signed by the Chancellor and filed of record on August 10, 2005. (R. 114) Subsequent to the filing of that order, Richard, on October 24, 2005, filed his Motion To Strike And For Sanctions, and on October 31, 2005, filed his Second Motion To Strike And For Sanctions. (R. 134, 149) Both motions alleged that Nevada had testified untruthfully in her deposition of March 8, 2005. The first motion asked the court to:

- 1. Strike any reference to or proof offered by Nevada at the trial of this matter concerning her allegations of fault against Richard
- 2. Award to Richard reasonable attorney fees, costs, and expenses incurred in pursuing this matter

The second motion asked the Court for an order:

- 1. Presuming that the "Dear John" letter at issue was written by Nevada in its entirety
- 2. Striking and prohibiting Nevada from referring to allegations of fault against Richard
- 3. Awarding Richard reasonable attorney fees, costs, and expenses incurred for having to bring this motion.

Prior to the start of the trial testimony, the Chancellor, over strenuous objections by Nevada, allowed Richard to put on testimony in support of those motions.

(T. 22-33)

The Order Granting Trial For Divorce On The Ground Of Irreconcilable

Differences was filed pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §93-5-2 (3), and in accordance with
that statute stated specifically what the parties had agreed the court could decide. (R. 114)
Paragraph 7 of that order lists those contested issues:

- 7. That the parties agree to permit the Court to decide the following issues upon which they cannot agree:
  - a. **Property rights** between the parties.
  - b. Alimony
  - c. Equitable distribution
  - d. Valuations of assets

- e. Determination of and equitable distribution of all **debts** of the marriage.
- f. Distribution of the real and personal property of the marriage.
- g. Resolution of issues pertaining to income tax deductions, sharing of income tax refunds or liabilities, etc.
- h. Determination of assessment of court costs, expert fees and attorney's fees.
- i. Determination as to what, if any, **marital waste** has taken place and assessment for such waste.
- j. Legal interest on any Judgments rendered by the court.
- k. Any and all financial issues (emphasis not added) (R. 115)

The relief Richard sought in his motions were not listed in the Agreed Order, and therefore barred by statute. As held in *Wideman v. Wideman*, 909 So.2d 140 (Miss. App. 2005):

A review of the pleadings shows that the parties did not include the issue of attorney fees in the joint complaint for divorce, or the written consent to have the \*146 chancellor resolve the contested issues. Under these circumstances, the chancellor was correct that he lacked the authority to address the matter of attorney fees. The language of Section 93-5-2(3) is clear. A chancellor may decide contested issues in a divorce based upon irreconcilable differences. However, he is limited to the resolution of those issues specifically identified and personally agreed to in writing by the parties. The question of attorney fees does not meet that standard. (emphasis added)

The motions filed by Richard more than two (2) months after the Agreed Order was entered were not contained in the Agreed Order, and such contested motions were not

agreed to by Nevada. Though the Chancellor allowed testimony by Richard concerning those motions, he reserved his ruling until hearing the case in chief.

Richard's appeal of this issue is without merit, and is further specifically prohibited by Miss. Code Ann §93-5-2 (3):

Appeals from any orders and judgments rendered pursuant to this subsection may be had as in other cases in chancery court only insofar as such orders and judgments relate to issues that the parties consented to have decided by the Court. (emphasis added)

Inasmuch as the Agreed Order did not include either of the motions to strike, Richard is prohibited from appealing the denial of the requested relief.

Though Richard's appeal of this issue is prohibited by statute, ironically the relief sought, other than attorney fees which is discussed hereafter, was agreed to by Nevada or otherwise rendered moot. In Richard's first **Motion To Strike And For Sanctions**, he asked the court to:

1. Strike any reference to or proof offered by Nevada at the trial of this matter concerning her allegations of fault against Richard (R 134)

Inasmuch as the parties had agreed to a divorce on irreconcilable differences and fault was no longer an issue, Nevada voluntarily dismissed her fault grounds and made no attempt to prove her allegations of fault against Richard.

In Richard's **Second Motion To Strike And For Sanctions**, he asked the Court for an order:

- 1. Presuming that the "Dear John" letter at issue was written by Nevada in its entirety
- 2. Striking and prohibiting Nevada from referring to allegations of fault against Richard

The "Dear John" letter referenced by Richard was admitted to by Nevada and introduced by agreement of the parties as Exhibit "1". (T. 128-129) Richard never made further mention of the letter, and other than its introduction, was never discussed by either party nor cited by the Chancellor in his order. Richard's second request to prohibit Nevada from referring to allegations of fault against him was a moot issue inasmuch as the parties had dismissed their fault grounds and agreed to an irreconcilable differences divorce.

Richard's request for attorney fees for filing these motions is disingenuous inasmuch as it becomes readily apparent that his sole purpose in filing the motions was to seek attorney fees from Nevada, since the relief sought was agreed to or rendered moot by the agreed order entered two (2) months prior to the filing of the motions. Had Richard wanted to pursue those contested motions, he had a right to do so by withdrawing his consent to a divorce on irreconcilable differences, prior to the court's commencing any proceeding pursuant to the agreed order. Richard chose however not to withdraw his consent, and was therefore barred from litigating any issue not specifically listed in the agreed order.

#### II. The Chancellor did not rely on perjurous statements or destroyed evidence

With all due respect, Nevada and her counsel are at a loss as to what relief Richard is seeking in this assignment of error. Richard appears to argue that Nevada's defenses should be stricken since she failed to produce a computer that she admitted she had destroyed prior to the request for production. (T. 32) Such request is difficult to understand inasmuch as the parties through their agreed order prepared by Richard's counsel and signed by the Chancellor on August 10, 2005, specifically provided that:

All adversarial grounds for divorce in the complaint for divorce filed by Plaintiff and all contest or denials filed by the Defendant are hereby withdrawn; the parties are allowed to proceed with the divorce on the ground of irreconcilable differences.

There was no defense filed by Nevada that the Chancellor could have stricken which had not already been withdrawn by Nevada.

Richard quotes substantial law that authorizes a chancellor to dismiss a cause of action for discovery abuses. Nevada does not disagree with such statement of law, but is confused as to what action Richard wants dismissed. The parties had already dismissed all fault grounds and defenses, and agreed to a divorce on irreconcilable differences, two (2) months prior to Richard's filing his motions. (R. 108, 114) Richard could have withdrawn that consent prior to the commencement of the proceeding, as provided by *Miss. Code Ann §93-5-2(3)*, but chose not to do so.

Richard alleges that Nevada destroyed her computer to conceal that she wrote the

"Dear John" letter. Such argument however is without merit inasmuch as Nevada stipulated and agreed that she was the author of such letter. (T. 128-129) By agreement of the parties, that letter was introduced as Exhibit "1", but was never referred to again by either party, and was not referenced in the **Order Of The Court**. (Id., R. 203, Appellant's RE. 13, Exh. 1)

Richard in his brief requests that the appellate court:

......forward the evidence of Nevada's perjury and destruction of evidence to the appropriate law enforcement authorities for prosecution, as well as the Mississippi Bar Association. (Brief of Appellant, pg. 21)

Since Richard cites no authority for such unprecedented request, Nevada asks that said request be denied. *City of Jackson v. Ainsworth*, 462 So.2d 325 (Miss. 1984), *Goodyear Yellow Pine Co. v. Lumpkin*, 130 So. 745 (Miss. 1930).

### III. The Chancellor was Correct in his Application of Equitable Distribution

The Chancellor was correct in his consideration and application of equitable distribution.

Richard argues that a survey of reported cases since 1995 reflects no decision where a spouse was awarded less than one-third (1/3) of the marital estate. Such survey is not appended to his brief and no such litany of cases is cited. While Richard complains that he only received twenty-one percent (21%) of the marital estate, such calculation is based upon a misstatement of the marital assets, and differs from the court's finding. The

court in its order found that of the \$480,000, Nevada was to receive as future payments, not only was fifteen percent (15%) commission due to her agent, an additional thirty-two percent (32%) would have to be paid in taxes. (R 205-206) The court determined that Nevada would receive approximately \$254,400 instead of the \$408,000 listed in Richard's brief. (R. 206) The Court also found that Nevada had \$155,235 in savings prior to the marriage, and received \$691,000 during the marriage from books written prior to the marriage. Also, the investment account owned by the parties included a payment of \$360,000 received by Nevada for books she was obligated to write in the future. (R 205) Nevada's agent, Dominic Able, and Nevada both testified that if a satisfactory manuscript was not submitted, she would be obligated to refund the \$360,000. (T. 185-187) Nevada and Dominic also testified that her first two manuscripts were unacceptable and that she was given a third and final chance to produce a work satisfactory to the publishing company. (T. 186, 198-199, 310-311) Richard also neglected to state in his brief that after the separation he spent \$45,000 left in a joint checking account. (T. 134-135, 138) When these additional calculations are considered, it becomes apparent that Richard received substantially more than 21% of the marital assets, even though such amount was still much greater than what he was entitled.

In determining equitable distribution, the Chancellor considered and discussed those factors outlined in *Ferguson v. Ferguson*, 639 So.2d 921 (Miss. 1994) (R 203) and subsequent cases, and made specific findings in his **Order Of The Court**. A discussion

of the Chancellor's findings follows:

- 1. Substantial contribution to the accumulation of the property. Factors to be considered in determining contribution are as follows:
- a. Direct or indirect economic contribution to the acquisition of the property.

The Chancellor in his order stated:

It is undisputed that approximately ninety-six percent (96%) of the income earned by the parties during the marriage were a direct result of Nevada's efforts. In fact, Richard testified that he quit working because Nevada was earning a substantial income, even though his refusal to work caused constant arguments. (R. 206)

The testimony was undisputed that prior to the marriage Nevada enjoyed a successful writing career, and that her character, Anna Pigeon, a park ranger who solved murders, was an integral part of her life, long before Richard was. (T. 187) Anna remained the central theme of subsequent books penned during the marriage. (T. 188) The Chancellor further found that:

Although Richard testified that he contributed to Nevada's success by answering e-mails, scheduling travel arrangements and traveling with Nevada, there was no evidence that such contribution actually had a direct or indirect economic contribution to Nevada's success or the acquisition of marital property. The duties performed by Richard were similar to those of an assistant and do not rise to the level of direct or indirect economic contribution. In fact, Richard himself testified that his main contribution to Nevada was to leave her alone. (R. 206-207)

Richard in his brief takes Nevada's testimony out of context by stating that she could not

"minimize the value he (Richard) was". As explained by Nevada:

He did things, and those things have been noted and explained. Because something cannot be minimized doesn't mean that its large, it just means you choose not to make it smaller than it actually was and I've chosen to do that, to not make it smaller. (T. 74)

Though Richard and Nevada both testified that Richard did various home projects including cooking, carpenter work, yard work, etc., such contributions constitute nothing more than usual and ordinary duties expected of a spouse, particularly one not otherwise employed. Testimony by Dominic Able, Nevada's agent, clearly established that any alleged contribution by Richard was nothing more than minimum ministerial duties. (T. 194, 258) Such testimony becomes further apparent in that since the separation, Nevada has not hired anyone to replace Richard.

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